## No. 90617-3

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIV. I NO. 70143-6-I

WESTERN NATIONAL ASSURANCE COMPANY,

a Washington Corporation, Respondents, AUG 1 3 2014

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON

V.

SHELCON CONSTRUCTION GROUP, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company, Petitioner/Appellants.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Lawrence B. Linville, WSBA # 6401 Linville Law Firm, PLLC Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant 800 5<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Suite 3850 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 515-0640



## **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Shelcon Construction Group, LLC ("Shelcon").

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision for which discretionary review is sought pursuant to RAP 13.4 is the Court of Appeals Division I's Opinion filed May 5, 2014 (Appendix 1) with regard to Court of Appeals Cause No.: 70143-6-I. Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on July 10, 2014 (Appendix 2).

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented for review is whether the J(5) exclusion of the standard Commercial General Liability insurance ("CGL") policy collectively applies to *both* the initial damage or injury to the particular part of property upon which the insured was performing operations *and* the consequential damage resulting from the insured's damage to the "particular part". Shelcon claims that the J(5) exclusion of its CGL policy only excludes damage or injury to the "particular part" of property on which Shelcon was performing operations, but does *not* exclude consequential damage resulting from damage or injury to the "particular part" of property on which the insured was performing operations at the time the "particular part" was damaged. Western National Assurance

Company ("Western") claims that *both* the initial and the consequential damages are excluded under the J(5) exclusion of the insured's CGL policy.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shelcon purchased a CGL policy from Western. Shelcon was a site work contractor. Shelcon was hired by A-2 Venture, LLC ("A-2") to clear, grade, and install underground utilities on 11.2 acres of certain property owned by A-2. A-2 intended to develop the property for the construction of 57 homes for resale to the public. During the course of Shelcon's work, Shelcon "allegedly" (according to A-2's Complaint and the deposition of its owner, Scott M. Haymond ("Haymond")) damaged A-2's property. A-2 sued Shelcon. A-2 tendered its defense to Western. Western declined to defend. The case tried before Judge Garold E. Johnson (Pierce County Superior Court Cause No.: 11-2-06443-9). A-2's claims were dismissed at the conclusion of the trial. Shelcon insured defense fees and costs in the amount of \$99,483.00.

The property damage claimed by A-2 was loss of use of its property for the purpose of constructing residences using conventional foundations. According to A-2's Complaint and Haymond's deposition, this loss of use resulted from Shelcon's negligent destruction of settlement markers that were embedded on the property for the purposes of measuring settlement of imported soil placed across and over the 11.2

acres. A-2's Complaint alleged that Shelcon's destruction of the settlement markers resulted in A-2 not being able to adequately measure the settlement or compaction of the soil that was imported and placed on its property, and therefore A-2 could not construct residences using conventional foundations. Western's CGL policy covered both physical injury and loss of use of property caused by the insured. Western relied upon Exclusion J(5) and denied any duty to defend. The Court of Appeals affirmed. The J(5) Exclusion states as follows:

## J. Damage to Property

"Property damage to:...

(5) That particular part of real property on which you or any contractors or subcontractors working directly or indirectly on your behalf are performing operations, if the "property damage" arises out of those operations; or

Shelcon contends that the J(5) exclusion applies only to the "particular part" of property (i.e. the settlement markers) that was damaged by Shelcon: not to the secondary or consequential damage caused to *other* property as a consequence of the initial damage to the settlement markers (i.e. the "particular part"). The Court of Appeals disagreed stating:

"Relying on the language in exclusion j.(5) that state the policy does not apply to property damage to the "particular part of real property on which you... are performing operations, if the 'property damage' arises out of those operations," Shelcon argues the exclusion applies only to the settlement markers. Shelcon contends the exclusion does not apply to "consequential property damage" caused by removal of the markers. We considered and rejected the

same argument in Vandivort Construction Co. v. Seattle Tennis Club, 11 Wn.App. 303, 522 P.2d 198 (1974), and Schwindt v. Underwriters at Lloyd's of London, 81 Wn.App. 293, 914 P.2d 119 (1996)."

Thus, the issue presented is whether Shelcon's CGL policy (which is an industry form that has been standardized since 1986) does or does not cover secondary or consequential damage resulting from primary or initial damage to the "particular part" that was damaged by the insured while performing operations on A-2's property.

#### V. ARGUMENT

This case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

1. There are currently 53,052 active registered contractors in the State of Washington. In order to be properly registered, these 53,052 contractors are each required by RCW 18.27.050 to furnish insurance coverage for property damage in an amount not less than \$50,000. This insurance is issued by a variety of insurers doing business in the State of Washington who issue a policy called a Commercial General Liability ("CGL") policy, exactly like the policy which Western issued to Shelcon. The CGL policy is standardized. All insurers issue the exact same CGL policy. The CGL policy is uniform throughout the United States. The CGL policy has been standardized since 1986. Therefore, the Court of

Appeals' decision in this case has an application reaching far beyond the case *sub judice* involving Shelcon.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision gives no meaning or effect whatsoever to the "particular part" words of the J(5) exclusion. The Court of Appeals' decision simply re-writes the J(5) exclusion

from

- J. Damage to Property "Property damage to:...
- (5) That particular part of real property on which you or any contractors or subcontractors working directly or indirectly on your behalf are performing operations, if the "property damage" arises out of those operations; or

to

- J. Damage to Property "Property damage to:...
- (5) That particular part of real property on which you or any contractors or subcontractors working directly or indirectly on your behalf are performing operations, if the "property damage" arises out of those operations; or
- 3. The Court of Appeals' decision is a published decision (published upon motion of Western Appendix 3) and now has precedential value in the construction and insurance industry. Under the Court of Appeals' decision, *any* property damage (not just limited to damage to a "particular part") caused by the contractor insured under the standard CGL policy is excluded if the property damage occurred while the insured performed operations at the site. Because *all* property damage

occurs at the site while the contractor is performing its operations, under the Court of Appeals' decision there can *never* be property damage covered by the contractor's CGL policy. That is because the Court of Appeals' decision combines primary damage to the particular part with *all* consequential damage to any other property.

4. The Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to every case that has ever applied the J(5) exclusion. See for example, *Transportation Insurance Co. v. Piedmont Construction Group, LLC*, 301 Ga.App. 17, 686 S.E. 2d 824 (2009); *Columbia Insurance Company v. Schauf*, 967 S.W.2d 74 (1998); *Acuity v. Burd & Smith Construction, Inc.* 721 N.W.2d 33 (2006).

Moreover, the Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to Couch On Insurance, 3D, §129:20 Work in Progress Exclusions which reads as follows:

"Within the business risk exclusion, two exclusions preclude coverage for work in progress. Exclusion j.(5) in the standard commercial general liability policy provides that there is no coverage for the property damage to "[t]hat particular part of real property on which you or any contractors or subcontractors working directly or indirectly on your behalf are performing operations, if the 'property damage' arises out of those operations." Exclusion j.(6) in the standard commercial general liability policy provides that the policies do not cover property damage to "[t]hat particular part of any property that must be restored, repaired or replaced because 'your work' was incorrectly performed on it." Exclusion j.(5) has generally been applied to preclude coverage for damages to particular real property resulting from or arising out of the ongoing operations of the insured. The purpose of exclusion i.(6) is to preclude coverage for the costs to repair or replace

particular work which is discovered to be defective or otherwise incorrectly performed while the insured is still performing its work.

Both of these exclusions are limited in their application by both time and scope. In order for these exclusions to apply, the claims must arise at the time the insured is actually performing the work on the property. Conversely, the exclusions do not apply to claims which arise after the insured's operations are complete. These exclusions will further only apply to that "particular part" of the subject property where the operations were being performed by the insured."

(emphasis supplied)

- 5. Under the duty to defend, Western cannot rely on an interpretation of either the policy or law that favors the insurer over those of the insured's interest. *Woo v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company*, 161 Wn.2d 43 (2006), *American Best Food, Inc v. Alea London, Ltd*, 168 Wn.2d 398 (2010).
- 6. RCW 18.27.050 (Appendix 4) *must* have intended to provide some insurance to the public that would actually cover damage to a person's property if that person's property was damaged by a contractor. Pursuant to the Court of Appeals' decision, there is no such coverage under the standard CGL policy which is precisely the policy that the insurance industry has prepared in response to this State's requirements. RCW 18.27.050.
- 7. The business of insurance is one affected by the public interest. RCW 48.01.030.

## VI. CONCLUSION

Although it may initially seem that Shelcon's Petition for

Discretionary Review presents only an isolated dispute between an insurer
and its insured or perhaps just a dispute between two litigants over a
contract term, this case truly presents an issue of broad and significant
interest to both the public and the contractors who perform work in this
State.

Shelcon requests the Supreme Court reverse the Court of Appeals decision dated May 5, 2014 and remand the case to King County Superior Court to grant Shelcon's Motion for Summary Judgment.