SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 90617-3

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION 1 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 70143-6-I

WESTERN NATIONAL ASSURANCE COMPANY, a Washington corporation,

Respondent,

v.

SHELCON CONSTRUCTION GROUP, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Appellant.

WESTERN NATIONAL ASSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER TO SHELCON CONSTRUCTION GROUP, LLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

John P. Hayes, WSBA #21009 FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98164-1039 (206) 689-8500

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

4. **ARGUMENT**

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review on appeal of a trial court's granting (and denying) of summary judgment is de novo with the appellate court engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. See Keith v. Allstate Indemn. Co., 105 Wn. App. 251, 254, 19 P.3d 1077 (2001).

B. <u>Affirmation of Dismissal of Shelcon's Breach of Duty to</u> Defend Claims Against WNAC Was Correct.

The interpretation of an insurance policy is an issue of law. Schwindt v. Underwriters at Lloyd's of London, 81 Wn. App. 293, 298, 914 P.2d 119, 122 (1996). Determining whether coverage exists is a two-step process. The insured must show the loss falls within the scope of the promise of coverage which is set forth in the Insuring Agreement section of the policy. Allstate Ins. Co. v. Bowen, 121 Wn. App. 879, 91 P.3d 897 (2004). In this case, that means that Shelcon must meet its obligations under the Insuring Agreement language and show facts supporting covered "property damage." If Shelcon meets its obligation, the burden would then shift to WNAC to show that the alleged "property damage"

loss is excluded by specific policy language. *McDonald v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company*, 119 Wn.2d 724, 730, 837 P.2d 1000, 1003-1004 (1992). WNAC's motion for summary judgment was properly granted because Shelcon failed in its burden and Western, in addition, showed exclusions would apply even if Shelcon met its burden on "property damage."

C. Shelcon Erroneously Argues That Property Damage Arising Out of a Contractor's Operations Can Be Parsed Between Initial and Secondary Damage to Avoid Exclusion j.(5).

Factually there was no initial/secondary damage dichotomy. The stakes were never damaged. Neither was the land. There was no cost to repair anything. In addition, Shelcon's initial/secondary distinction is not supported by the Exclusion j.(5) language. Lastly, the argument was rejected in the *Vandivort*² and *Schwindt*³ decisions.

There similarly was no loss of use of the settlement markers or the land owned by A-2. The markers were simply removed. The land was sold albeit at a reduced price. The analysis could stop there. The initial / subsequent damage thesis fails on the factual level. Diminution in land value was the sole claim. Because there was no property damage at all, the proposed Shelcon j.(5) dichotomy never gets a foothold in the analysis.

Vandivort Const. Co. v. Seattle Tennis Club, 11 Wn. App. 303, 522 P.2d 198, review denied, 84 Wn.2d 1011, (1974).

³ Schwindt v. Underwriters at Lloyd's of London, 81 Wn. App. 293, 914 P.2d 119, review denied, 130 Wn.2d 1003, (1996).

Exclusion j.(5) in the Western policy reads as follows:

SECTION I - COVERAGES

COVERAGE A – BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIABILITY

- 2. Exclusions
- j. Damage to Property

"Property damage" to:

. .

(5) That particular part of real property on which you or any contractors or subcontractors, working directly or indirectly on your behalf, are performing operations, if the "property damage" arises out of those operations; . . .

The "particular part" of A-2's real property where Shelcon was performing operations was the entire A-2 property as the stakes and fill dirt covered the whole 11 acre site. The exclusion focus is on the real property on which a contractor like Shelcon is working resulting in "property damage" to the real property. Here A-2's entire property was affected by Shelcon's stake removal. The results were excluded by the language. It is inescapable that the entire real property of A-2 is the focus of the Complaint allegations and is the same focus of the j.(5) exclusion. The exclusion applies to prevent coverage for the alleged harm to real property resulting from or arising out of the ongoing operations of

Shelcon. There is no temporal or "other property" distinction as long as the alleged damages arise out of the insured's ongoing work on the real property. STEVEN PLITT, ET AL., COUCH ON INSURANCE, 3D, § 129:20 (1997) Work in Progress Exclusions, well describes the principle:

Exclusion j.(5) has generally been applied to preclude coverage for damages to particular real property resulting from or arising out of the ongoing operations of the insured. The purpose of exclusion j.(6) is to preclude coverage for the costs to repair or replace particular work which is discovered to be defective or otherwise incorrectly performed while the insured is still performing its work.

Both of these exclusions are limited in their application by both time and scope. In order for these exclusions to apply, the claims must arise at the time the insured is actually performing the work on the property. Conversely, the exclusions do not apply to claims which arise after the insured's operations are complete. These exclusions will further only apply to that "particular part" of the subject property where the operations were being performed by the insured."

The inquiry is whether the alleged property damage to the particular property occurred during ongoing operations and arose out of the insured's operations. Here, the answer is "yes." The facts set forth in the underlying Complaint fall within the exclusionary j.(5) language and fit the Couch discussion of the exclusion's application. Dirt surcharge of up to 4 feet was applied across the entire property by Shelcon in tandem with the removal (not the destruction) of pre-placed settlement markers. Shelcon removed (not destroyed) the markers when it was placing the dirt

on the entire A-2 land. All of this occurred during Shelcon's ongoing operations on the entire real property of A-2.

The A-2 Complaint alleges that Shelcon's legal liability arose from its actual removal of the stakes making it impossible for the 4 feet of surcharge and underlying peat to be measured to determine subsidence. The development potential of the property accordingly was reduced. The ongoing operations of Shelcon, namely the placement and removal of dirt and markers was the alleged cause of A-2's diminished development potential. The claim arose while Shelcon was performing the soil work on the property. The exclusion applies to that "particular part" of the subject property where Shelcon was performing its operations. The particular part" of the subject property was all of the A-2 property.

D. Shelcon Cannot Avoid the Vandivort and Schwindt Decisions.

In *Vandivort*, the building owners on an assignment from their contractor sued four carriers for coverage for damage to their building by the contractor. *Vandivort*, 11 Wn. App. at 294. The trial court granted summary judgment for the carriers holding that the policy did not cover the property damage claims because the damage fell within the policy's exclusion for faulty construction work on "particular property" during

These same facts support application of exclusion m. regarding impaired property which the Court did not need to address in its decision relying solely on exclusion j. There is no physical damage to A-2's property but there was a loss of value without tangible injury. Exclusion m. also precludes coverage.

ongoing operations. *Id.* at 295. The exclusion at issue is almost identical to the j(5) exclusion in the Western policy. The *Vandivort* policy had the following exclusion:

for damage to "that particular part of any property, upon which the assured is or has been working caused by the faulty manner in which the work has been performed.... *Id.*

The damages sought were for repair and replacement of tangible physical property. *Id.* at 298. The court denied coverage on the policy exclusion which it characterized as the "faulty work" exclusion. The owners like Shelcon argued that "consequential" damage resulting from the faulty work was covered under the policy's provision relating to damage to the property of the owner. The court considered and rejected the argument that the exclusions do not extend to claims of bad work beyond removal and replacement of the defective work of the contractor. *Id.* Because all damages arose from the contractor's faulty work, the faulty work exclusion applied to all claims of damages. *Id.* at 303. There was no distinction between initial work by the contractor and the consequent damage to the owner's building or land or third party property.

Exclusion j.(5) precludes coverage of all property damage, if such damage arises from the actual work of the contractor on the real property at issue. In *Vandivort* there was physical injury to property as a consequence of the contractor's faulty work but still there was no

coverage. Here there is no defined property damage but even if there were such actual damage, it is excluded under j.(5). Exclusion j.(5) precludes coverage for all damages to real property arising from Shelcon's placement and or removal of settlement markers preventing the ability to monitor dirt subsidence causing the diminished value of A-2's property.

Vandivort also sought to recover damages it incurred to repair an earth slide and road damage caused by its negligence. *Vandivort*, 11 Wn. App. at 303. Coverage was denied. The court stated: "Vandivort was performing operations on the property and the injury here for which damages are claimed arose out of those operations." *Id.* In applying the exclusionary language, the decision recognized no distinctions between "initial" and "secondary" damage. Coverage was denied for all damage categories. The court did not recognize any distinction between initial damage to work or the product of Vandivort the contractor or the consequential damage to the land of the tennis club or the public road.

E. The Schwindt Decision is Consistent.

Schwindt was a construction defect case where the general contractor insured constructed a defective building. Schwindt, 81 Wn. App. at 294. The applicable policy included an exclusion for property damage "to that particular part of any property upon which the assured is or has been working caused by the faulty manner in which the work has

performed..." *Id.* at 296. There was actual, physical damage to the building. *Id.* at 296. This included water leakage. *Id.* Extensive rework and repair had to be done to the general contractor's work. *Id.* The trial court nonetheless granted summary judgment to the carrier denying coverage. *Id.* at 297. Like Shelcon here, the contractor in *Schwindt* contended that the insurance policy exclusion covered damage to the "property of others." *Id.* at 297. The court nonetheless applied the exclusion even though there was damage to the "property of others." *Id.* The court recognized no distinction between damage to the property of the contractor and damage to the property of the building owner. The court rejected the limited scope of the exclusion argued by the general contractor and echoed here by Shelcon. All damages from ongoing operations by a contractor are excluded by j.(5). *Schwindt* sustains the Court of Appeals decision denying coverage.

F. WNAC Raises Additional Issues for Review Should Shelcon's Petition be Granted.

In the event Shelcon's Petition for Review of the exclusion j.(5) issue is granted, WNAC seeks review of certain issues raised but not decided by the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(d). WNAC raises alternate grounds, including the failure of Shelcon to demonstrate "property

damage" as defined in the WNAC policy and the application of exclusions j.(6) and m.

5. **CONCLUSION**

This Court of Appeals relied on established precedents construing exclusion j.(5) language in finding that Shelcon's work in progress caused A-2's damages at the time of the work. Id. This Court rejected Shelcon's argument that the j.(5) exclusion applies only to the settlement markers which in any event were never damaged. Id. at p.7. The Court similarly and properly rejected Shelcon's contention that the exclusion does not apply to consequential property damage caused by removal of the markers. Id. The Court properly stated that "We considered and rejected the same argument in Vandivort Construction Co. v. Seattle Tennis Club, 11 Wn. App. 303, 522 P.2d 198 (1974), and Schwindt v. Underwriters at Lloyd's of London, 81 Wn. App. 293, 914 P.2d 119 (1996)." Vandivort and Schwindt specifically rejected the insured's argument that consequential property damages were not covered by the reach of exclusion j. Vandivort, 11 Wn. App. at 308; Schwindt, 81 Wn. App. at 302-03. The Court of Appeals here correctly relied on its decision in Schwindt that "The exclusion is not limited to the component out of which the damage arose." 81 Wn. App. at 304. The analysis is sound. This court twice rejected petitions for review in *Vandivort* and *Schwindt*. It should do so again.